COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

THE SUDBURY STUDENT SERVICES CONSORTIUM (The "Employer")

AND

THE ONTARIO SECONDARY SCHOOL TEACHERS' FEDERATION (The "Union)

REPRESENTING

THE SUDBURY STUDENT SERVICES CONSORTIUM BARGAINING
UNIT
OF RAINBOW DISTRICT3
(The "Bargaining Unit")

EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 2016 TO AUGUST 31, 2017

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		<u>Page</u>
ACTICLE 1 -	- DEFINITIONS	7
1.1 1.2 1.3 1.4 1.5 1.6 1.7 1.8 1.9 1.10 1.11	Bargaining Unit Casual Employee Common-Law Spouse Day Employee Employer Grievance Member OSSTF Part-Time Employee Predecessor Boards Permanent Full-Time Employee	
1.13 1.14	Term Employee	8
ARTICLE 2	– GENERAL PURPOSE	8
ARTICLE 3	- RECOGNITION AND SCOPE	9
ARTICLE 4	– EFFECTIVE PERIOD	10
4.2	Notice to Bargain	10
ARTICLE 5	– UNION MEMBERSHIP AND FEE DEDUCTION	10
5.2 5.3 5.4	Union DuesProvincial Union DuesLocal Union Dues	10
ARTICLE 6	– UNION RIGHTS	11
6.1 6.2 6.5	Bulletin Board and Workspace	11
ARTICLE 7	-MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	12
7.4	Just Cause	13

ARTICLE	∃ 8 –	· CONTRACTING OUT 1	3
8. 8. 8.	4	Co-Op Students	13
ARTICLE	≣ 9 –	TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGES1	4
ARTICLE	≣ 10-	DISCRIMINATION AND HARASSMENT1	4
ARTICLE	≣ 11	- EMPLOYEE RELATIONS COMMITTEE 1	5
ARTICLE	≣ 12	– HEALTH, SAFETY AND SECURITY1	5
		Joint Health and Safety Committee	
ARTICLE	≣ 13	– GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION1	6
13 13 13 13	3.1 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.8 3.9	General 1 Informal Procedure 1 Step 1 1 Step 2 1 Arbitration 1 Time Lines 1 Grievance Mediation 1	16 17 17
ARTICLE	≣ 14	– DISTRIBUTION OF THE COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT 1	9
ARTICLE	≣ 15	– HUMAN RESOURCES FILE1	9
ARTICLE	≣ 16	– HOURS OF WORK2	21
ARTICLE	≣ 17	- OVERTIME	22
17	7.4	Overtime for Part-Time Employees	23
ARTICLE	≣ 18	– PROBATIONARY PERIOD2	23
ARTICLE	≣ 19	- QUALIFICATONS	23
ARTICLE	≣ 20	- TRANSFERS	23
ARTICI F	- 21	- SENIORITY	23

	21.1	Definition	23
	21.7	Seniority List	
	21.8	Service for Casual and Term Employees	24
ARTI	CLE 22	2 – JOB POSTING	25
	22.1	Postings	25
	22.2	Term Positions	
	22.3	Permanent Services Positions	26
	22.4	Copy of Posting	
	22.5	Casual List	
ARTI	CLE 23	B – LAY OFF AND RECALL – PERMANENT FULL-TIME EMPLOYEES	27
	23.9	Recall Rights	28
ARTI	CLE 24	– JOB CLASSIFICATION AND RE-CLASSIFICATION	29
	24.1	Pay Equity Gender Comparison System	29
	24.2	Classification of New Position	
	24.3	Job Evaluation Committee	29
	24.4	Re-Classification Request	
	24.5	Salary Adjustments	30
ARTI	CLE 25	- SALARY ADMINISTRATION AND PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS	30
	25.2	Relieving Rate	31
	25.3	Promotion Rate	31
	25.4	Method of Payment	32
ARTI	ICLE 26	S – SALARY GRIDS	32
	26.1	Permanent and Term Employees	32
	26.2	Casual Employees	33
ARTI	CLE 27	– BENEFITS PLANS	33
	27.2	Eligibility Criteria	33
	27.3	Basic Group Life Insurance Plan	
	27.4	Basic Accidental Death and Dismemberment Insurance Plan	34
	27.5	Spousal and Dependent Life Insurance Plan	34
	27.6	Supplementary Health Insurance Plan	
	27.7	Dental Insurance Plan	
	27.8	Optional Accidental Death and Dismemberment Insurance Plan	
	27.9	Long-Term Disability Insurance Plan	34

		8 – PENSIONS- ONTARIO MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES RETIREI MERS)	
ARTIC	LE 29	– AUTHORIZED LEAVES	35
	29.1	Statutory Holidays	35
	29.2	Vacation	
		29.2.1 Administration and Allocation of Vacation Entitlement	36
		29.2.2 Vacation Entitlement for Permanent Full-Time and Term	
		Employees	36
	29.3	Vacation – Term Employees	37
	29.4	Vacation – Casual Employees	
	29.5	Sick Leave	
		29.5.1 Administration and Allocation of Sick Leave Entitlement	
		29.5.2 Sick Leave Entitlement	
		29.5.3 Sick Leave Utilisation	
		29.5.4 Absences Due to Sick Leave	
	29.6	Bereavement Leave	
	29.7	Quarantine	
	29.8	Jury or Witness Duty	
	29.9	Maternity and Parental Leave (Include Sub Plan)	
		29.9.1 Preamble	
	00.40	29.9.2 Maternity Leave	
	29.10	Parental/Family Leave	
		29.10.5 Commencement of Leave	
	20 11	29.10.9 Extended Parental Leave/Adoption Leave	
		Paternity Leave Personal Leave	
		Inclement Weather	
		Leave of Absence Without Pay	
		Leave for Union Related Duties	
	23.13	29.15.1 Bargaining Unit President	
		29.15.2 Miscellaneous Leave Days for Union Business	
		29.15.3 Other Union Leave	
	29.16	Negotiating Team	
		Positions Outside the Bargaining Unit	
		Family Medical Leave	
ARTIC	LE 30	– PERFORMANCE EVALUATION	49
ARTIC	LE 31	- CONFERENCES ORPROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT	50
ARTIC	LE 32	- TRAVEL ALLOWANCES	50
ARTIC	LE 33	- EMPLOYMENT INSURANCE REBATE	51

ARTICLE 34 – LIABILITY INSURANCE	51
ARTICLE 35 - APPENDICES	51
ARTICLE 36 - SIGNATURES	52
Index	53

This Collective Agreement will be completed and signed in both official languages and each version shall be official and binding. In the event of any inconsistencies between the two versions, the English version shall govern. In the event that an official French version of the Collective Agreement is required, a shared cost arrangement will be initiated by the parties.

ARTICLE 1 – DEFINITIONS

- **1.1 Bargaining Unit:** Sudbury Student Services Consortium Bargaining Unit of Rainbow District 3
- 1.2 Casual Employee: A "Casual Employee" is an Employee hired to work on an irregular basis during periods of heavy workload and in cases of emergency, for a period not exceeding three (3) months. Casual Employees have the benefit of all the rights and privileges provided herein, except for the following articles or paragraphs: Just Cause (paragraph 7.4); Technological Changes (article 9); Probationary Period (article 18); Qualifications (article 19); Transfers (article 20); Lay-Off and Recall (article 23); Benefits (article 27); Authorized Leaves (article 29); Performance Evaluation (article 30) unless a casual employee with two (2) months' or more continuous or accumulated service; Conference or Professional Development (article 31).
 - **1.2.1** The Bargaining Unit President shall be notified in a timely manner when casuals are hired.
- **1.3 Common-law Spouse**: A person with whom the Employee has been cohabitating in a spousal relationship for a period in excess of one **(1)** year. This includes a person of the same gender.
- **1.4 Day:** An Employee's work day unless otherwise defined.
- **1.5 Employee:** A person working for the Employer and covered by this Collective Agreement.
- **1.6 Employer:** The Sudbury Student Services Consortium.
- **1.7 Grievance:** Any matter arising from the interpretation, administration or alleged violation of this Collective Agreement including any question as to whether a matter is arbitrable.
- **1.8 Member:** A member of the Union.
- **1.9 OSSTF:** The Ontario Secondary School Teachers' Federation.

- **1.10 Part-Time Employee:** An Employee who is regularly scheduled to work less than 1248 hours per year.
- **1.11 Predecessor Boards:** School board member of Employer.
- 1.12 Permanent Full-Time Employee: An Employee who is regularly scheduled to work 1827 hours per year and who is regularly scheduled in accordance with Article 16. An Employee who is neither a Casual Employee nor a Term Employee. Permanent Full-Time Employees have the benefit of all the rights and privileges provided herein.
- 1.13 Term Employee: An Employee hired on a term (i.e. period of employment) to replace a Permanent Full Time Employee on authorized leave for a period of three (3) months to twelve (12) months. A term Employee may also be hired for a specific term or task for a period not to exceed twelve (12) months or for a position that is not normally renewed from one year to the next. The Employer may request and the Bargaining Unit shall not unreasonably deny a renewal of the term period up to an additional twelve (12) months from the end date in the contract. The Employer shall provide to the Bargaining Unit the following information prior to the start:
 - **1.13.1** Name of Employee
 - **1.13.2** Job duties
 - **1.13.3** Hours of work
 - **1.13.4** Compensation
 - **1.13.5** Start and End Dates

The Union shall, at all times, respect the confidential nature of such documentation.

Should the Employer direct a member of the Bargaining Unit to train the Term Employee, it shall be done during working hours, whenever possible. The time of employment shall be added to the Term Employee's service calculation on the casual list.

1.14 Union: The Ontario Secondary School Teachers' Federation includes the Bargaining Unit unless otherwise specified.

In the Collective Agreement, a pronoun or adjective associated with a gender applies to the other gender, save and except when stated otherwise.

ARTICLE 2 – GENERAL PURPOSE

2.1 The general purpose of this Agreement is to establish and maintain harmonious as well as mutually beneficial relations between the Union and the Employer, to provide for an ongoing means of communication between the Union and the

Employer, and the prompt and equitable disposition of grievances, and the final settlement of disputes, and to establish and maintain terms and conditions of employment in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.

- 2.2 In fulfilment of the above purposes, the parties are committed through the use of the Employee Relations Committee to ongoing consultation and problem solving.
- 2.3 In the event that the Government of Ontario or the Government of Canada passes or amends Statutes and/or Regulations where in the opinion of either party such action has brought about changes in the terms and conditions of work from those originally described by the parties in the Agreement, the Employee Relations Committee shall meet within fifteen (15) days of the written request of either party for such meeting and the following shall apply:
 - 2.3.1 The parties shall attempt to agree on a method of modifying the Agreement by mutual consent to restore to Employees of the Bargaining Unit the terms and conditions of work contracted when the Agreement was made. This principle of restoration is to apply when not specifically contrary to the new Statutes or Regulations.

ARTICLE 3 – RECOGNITION AND SCOPE

- 3.1 The Employer recognizes the Ontario Secondary School Teachers' Federation as the sole and exclusive Bargaining Agent for all Employees employed by the Sudbury Student Services Consortium except for the Executive Secretaries, Supervisors and those above the rank of Supervisors.
- 3.2 The Employer recognizes the right of the Union to authorize the Bargaining Unit or any other advisory agent, counsel, solicitor or duly authorized representative to assist, advise or represent them in all matters pertaining to the negotiation and administration of this Collective Agreement.
- 3.3 The Union recognizes the right of the Employer to authorize any advisory agent, counsel, solicitor or duly authorized representative to assist, advise or represent them in all matters pertaining to the negotiation and administration of this Collective Agreement.
- 3.4 The Employer recognizes the right of members of the Union to have Union representative(s) present during disciplinary meetings with the Employer representative(s) where the conduct or competence of the Employee is being considered. The Employer shall provide the Employee with twenty-four (24) hours' notice of such a meeting. If the Employee elects to have Union representation, the representative will arrive in a timely fashion and no discussion of the issues will take place until the Union representative is present. Notwithstanding the above, the Employer will adhere to due process.

ARTICLE 4- EFFECTIVE PERIOD

4.1 This Agreement shall be in effect from January 1, 2016 to August 31, 2017 and shall remain in effect from year to year thereafter unless either party gives notice to the other not more than ninety **(90)** days from the expiration date herein that it desires revision, modification or termination of this Agreement at its expiration date.

4.2 Notice to Bargain

- **4.2.1** In the event that either Party gives notice as defined in 4.1, the Parties will meet to negotiate within (15) working days or such other time as may be mutually agreed after the giving of such notice and both Parties shall negotiate in good faith and make every effort to conclude a new Agreement.
- 4.3 This Agreement shall supersede all previous Agreements. Except for error, inadvertence or omissions, it shall form the basis for determining all salaries and other conditions defined herein. Amendments to the provisions herein contained shall be made only by mutual written consent of the Parties.
- 4.4 The Union agrees there shall be no strikes and the Employer agrees there shall be no lockouts so long as this Agreement continues to operate. The terms "strike" and "lockout" shall bear the meaning given to them in the *Ontario Labour Relations Act*.

ARTICLE 5 – UNION MEMBERSHIP AND FEE DEDUCTION

5.1 As of the first day of work, all Employees covered by this Agreement shall, as a condition of employment, become and remain members in good standing of OSSTF according to the Constitution and By-laws of OSSTF. The OSSTF shall be the sole judge of the good standing of its members.

5.2 Union Dues

5.2.1 On each pay date that an Employee receives a pay cheque the Employer shall deduct from each Employee the Union dues and any dues chargeable by the Bargaining Unit or by the District or an equivalent amount. The amounts shall be determined by OSSTF and/or the Bargaining Unit in accordance with their respective Constitutions and By-laws and forwarded in writing to the Employer at least thirty (30) days prior to the expected date of change.

5.3 Provincial Union Dues

5.3.1 The Employer agrees to deduct from the wages of every Employee covered by this Agreement those dues and assessments levied in accordance with the OSSTF's Constitution and By-laws, and to remit such monies to the Treasurer of OSSTF at 60 Mobile Drive, Toronto, Ontario M4A 2P3 no later than the 15th day of the month following the month in which the deduction was made. Such remittance shall be accompanied by a list identifying the Employees, the amounts deducted and the number of days worked. The Union shall, at all times, respect the confidential nature of such document.

5.4 Local Union Dues

- **5.4.1** Dues specified by the District in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, if any, shall be deducted and remitted to the Treasurer of OSSTF District 3, at PO Box 490, Lively, Ontario, P3Y 1M5 no later than the 15th day of the month following the month in which the deductions were made. Such remittance shall be accompanied by a list identifying the Employees and the amounts deducted.
- 5.5 The Union shall indemnify and hold the Employer harmless from any claims, suits, attachments and any form of liability as a result of such deductions authorized by the Union and/or the Bargaining Unit.
- Any monies deducted under <u>ARTICLE 5 UNION MEMBERSHIP AND FEE</u> <u>DEDUCTION</u> shall be reflected as a deduction on Employees' T4 slips.
- 5.7 The Employer shall advise all new Employees at the time of hire that a Collective Agreement is in effect and give a copy of the Collective Agreement to the Employee and direct the Employee to the Union President.

ARTICLE 6 – UNION RIGHTS

6.1 Bulletin Board and Workspace

6.1.1 The Employer shall provide a bulletin board for the use of the Union at an appropriate location in each workplace upon which the Union shall have the right to post notices relating to matters of interest to the Union and the Employees. The Union will not post any documents that are inappropriate or prejudicial to the Sudbury Student Services Consortium's mission. The Employer reserves the right to remove such privileges if it affects the interest of the Employer if it is considered offensive.

6.2 Union Representatives and Communication

- **6.2.1** The Union shall notify the Employer in writing of the names of its representatives. Unless otherwise stated in this collective agreement communications between the Bargaining Unit and the Employer shall be between the Bargaining Unit President or designate and the Executive Director or designate.
- 6.3 Subject to the Personal Information Protection and Electronic Document Act the Employer shall provide the Union with all necessary information relating to the following matters for Employees within the Bargaining Unit on a current basis as of November 1st of each year. Such information includes but is not limited to:
 - **6.3.1** A list of Employees, showing their names, work locations, and classifications, ranked according to seniority;
 - **6.3.2** Information relating to salaries and fringe benefits.
- 6.4 With reasonable prior notice and approval by the Executive Director or designate, the Union shall be allowed to carry out Union business on the Employer's premises at reasonable times and in reasonable locations including, without restricting the generality of the foregoing, membership meetings, executive meetings, and conference between Union representatives and Employees. Such meetings will be held before or after work hours, or during lunch or breaks. In accordance with the above, such request shall not be unreasonably denied.

6.5 Courier and E-mail Systems

- 6.5.1 The Union shall have the right to use the Employer's courier and e-mail systems, telephone system and fax machines located in the workplace for the purpose of communication between the Union and its Employees. Such use shall be at no cost to the Employer. Such distribution will be done before or after work hours or during breaks, including lunch breaks. This right may be limited if abused by the Union.
- 6.6 Except for emergencies, an Employee may refuse to perform duties, normally and regularly performed by management, except as otherwise outlined in this Agreement. Notwithstanding this paragraph, no Employee shall be assigned to supervisory duties such as hiring, firing or imposing discipline on other members of the Bargaining Unit.
- 6.7 The Employer shall not require any Employee to cross a legally established picket line where there is a possibility of danger to the health, security or safety of the Employee, or of danger to the Employee's property.

ARTICLE 7 – MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- 7.1 The Union recognizes the right of the Employer to manage in accordance with the laws and regulations, and to make, enforce, and amend, from time to time reasonable rules and regulations to be observed by Employees.
- 7.2 The Employer agrees that it will not exercise its management rights in a manner that is arbitrary, unreasonable, or discriminatory or that is inconsistent with the terms and provisions of this Agreement or the prevailing statues governing education and labour in the province of Ontario.
- 7.3 The Union recognizes the right of the Employer, subject to any provisions of this Agreement and appropriate legislation to manage its affairs including the right to hire, retire, direct, classify, transfer, promote, demote and lay-off.
- **7.4 Just Cause:** The parties agree that no Employee shall be:
 - **7.4.1** Disciplined, suspended or discharged, except for just cause; and
 - **7.4.2** Notwithstanding **7.4.1** the parties agree that the Employer may dismiss a probationary Employee at a lesser standard.
- **7.5** The Employer shall notify the Union, in writing, within 10 working days when an Employee is reassigned, promoted, demoted, transferred, disciplined or terminated.

ARTICLE 8 – CONTRACTING OUT

- **8.1** No Employee shall be laid off, lose his job, incur a reduction of his working hours or will lose his right of recall because of contracting out.
- 8.2 Subject to 8.1, the Employer may contract out Union work in the case of an overload of surplus of work or a lack of Employees available and provided that the Employer has adhered to the dispositions of the Collective Agreement. In this event, the Employer will provide the Union with full access to his financial statements and records in order to determine for which position the Employer can afford to hire regular workers instead of contracting out the same work.

8.3 Co-Op Students

- **8.3.1** Employees shall not have their hours of work changed or reduced owing to the use of Co-Op students in the workplace.
- **8.3.2** No Employee shall be laid-off nor shall the Employer refuse to recall a laid-off Employee owing to the use of Co-Op students in the workplace.

8.4 Volunteers

- **8.4.1** Employees shall not have their hours of work changed or reduced owing to the use of volunteers in the workplace.
- **8.4.2** No Employee shall be laid-off nor shall the Employer refuse to recall a laid-off Employee owing to the use of volunteers in the workplace.

8.5 Summer Students

- **8.5.1** Employees shall not have their hours of work changed or reduced owing to the use of summer students in the workplace.
- **8.5.2** No Employee shall be laid-off nor shall the Employer refuse to recall a laid-off Employee owing to the use of summer students in the workplace.
- **8.5.3** Summer students shall not "quick assign" and/or "deassign."
- **8.5.4** In accordance with **8.3.2**, **8.4.2** and **8.5.2**, the Employer shall be permitted to recruit high school students from Rainbow District School Board, Conseil scolaire du district du Grand Nord de l'Ontario, Conseil scolaire catholique du Nouvel-Ontario and Sudbury Catholic District School Board for the purposes of completing their volunteer hours.
- 8.6 If at any time, there is a disagreement about a co-op or summer student's activities or the use of volunteers while in the workplace, the Bargaining Unit President or designate will contact the Executive Director or designate to convene a meeting of representatives from the Bargaining Unit and appropriate administrative staff in order to attempt to alleviate the problem.

<u>ARTICLE 9 – TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGES</u>

- **9.1** Technological change shall be defined as any change in work methods or procedures involving the use of machinery, equipment and/or software.
- **9.2** When a technological change requiring additional skills is introduced into the workplace, the Employer shall provide the Employee(s), directly affected by such technological change, with training, during their regular work hours when possible.
- **9.3** If the Employer decides to lay-off Employees or reduce the hours of work as a result of technological change, every effort shall be made to reduce the hours of work or the number of Employees by attrition.

<u>ARTICLE 10 – DISCRIMINATION AND HARASSMENT</u>

- 10.1 There shall not be any discrimination in employment practiced by or on behalf of the Employer with respect to any of the prohibited grounds set out in the Ontario Human Rights Code, nor shall the Employer engage any type of harassment. The Employer and the Bargaining Unit shall adhere to the Employer's Administrative Policy 005, Workplace Violence and Harassment.
- **10.2** There shall be no discrimination, intimidation, interference, restraint, or coercion, practiced by or on behalf of the Employer with respect to any Employee because of membership or non-membership in the Union.

ARTICLE 11 – EMPLOYEE RELATIONS COMMITTEE

- 11.1 A committee consisting of up to two (2) representatives of the bargaining unit and up two (2) persons appointed by the Executive Director shall meet at least one (1) time a year to discuss matters of mutual concern. Special meetings may be called for the purpose of discussing matters of urgent concern. Where possible, agenda items will be exchanged in writing at least one (1) week prior to the meeting.
- **11.2** The purpose of the committee includes promoting and providing effective and meaningful communication of information.
- 11.3 The parties shall notify each other of the names of their respective representatives prior to each meeting. The Union's contact will be the President. The Employer's contact will be the Executive Director.
- **11.4** Meetings of the committee shall take place during normal working hours and shall be considered time worked for the Bargaining Unit Employees of the committee.

<u>ARTICLE 12 – HEALTH, SAFETY AND SECURITY</u>

12.1 The Employer shall recognize its obligations to provide a safe, secure and healthy environment for Employees. As well, the Employer shall recognize its obligations to carry out all duties and obligations under the Occupational Health and Safety Act and its accompanying Regulations as minimum acceptable standards.

12.2 Joint Health and Safety Committee

12.2.1 A Joint Health and Safety Committee shall be established which compose of an equal number of Union and Employer representatives. The working and powers of the Committee are those outlined in the Occupational Health and Safety Act. The Employer and the bargaining unit shall adhere to the Employer's Administrative Policy 008, Health and Safety.

12.3 Accommodating Employees with Disabilities

- 12.3.1 The Employer and the Bargaining Unit agree to take all reasonable steps to ensure that any Employee who, owing to disabling illness or injury, requires accommodation in order to work or to return to work or to continue to work.
- **12.3.2** The Employer and the Bargaining Unit acknowledge their mutual responsibility to cooperate in the provision of workplace accommodations in accordance with prevailing legislation.
- **12.3.3** The Employer and the Bargaining Unit recognize that employees who require accommodation have obligations to cooperate in the process, including the clear communication of any medically documented limitations requiring accommodation and the providing of medical information reasonably required by the Employer.
- **12.3.4** Administering First Aid. The Employer agrees to make available to those designated Employees, training and/or retraining for the administration of first aid. Such training shall normally be provided by the Employer during regular work hours at no cost to the member.

ARTICLE 13 – GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION

13.1 General

- **13.1.1** Any difference concerning the interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of the provisions of this Agreement shall be dealt with as outlined below.
- **13.2** No individual member or members of the Union or the employer may initiate a grievance except through the appropriate party.

13.3 Informal Procedure

13.3.1 It is the mutual desire of the parties hereto that complaints of Employees be addressed as quickly as possible, and it is understood that an Employee has no grievance until the Employee has first given the immediate Supervisor the opportunity of addressing the Employee's complaint. Such complaint shall be discussed with the Employee's immediate Supervisor within ten (10) days after the circumstances giving rise to it have occurred or ought reasonably to have come to the attention of the Employee. Failing settlement within ten (10) days, it shall then be taken up as a grievance in the following manner and sequence.

13.4 Step 1

- **13.4.1** The Union may make written grievance to the immediate Supervisor on the appropriate grievance form indicating the section of the collective agreement alleged to be violated.
- **13.4.2** The immediate Supervisor shall deliver the decision in writing within ten **(10)** days following the day on which the grievance was presented.
- **13.4.3** The grievance shall contain:
 - **13.4.3.1** Identification of the article or articles alleged violated;
 - **13.4.3.2** A description of the alleged violation;
 - **13.4.3.3** The relief sought; and
 - **13.4.3.4** The signature of the Grievance Officer or designate of the Bargaining Unit.

13.5 Step 2

- 13.5.1 Failing satisfactory settlement at Step 1, the Union may submit the grievance to the Executive Director within ten (10) days. The Executive Director or designate shall meet with the Union within ten (10) days of receipt of the written request and shall answer the grievance in writing within ten (10) days of the meeting.
- **13.5.2** A group grievance may be filed at Step 2, and a Union or Policy grievance shall be filed at Step 2 within ten **(10)** days following the circumstances giving rise to the complaint or grievance.

13.6 Arbitration

- **13.6.1** Failing settlement at Step 2 of any grievance between the parties, such grievance may be submitted to arbitration provided that such a written request is received within twenty **(20)** workdays after the decision under Step 2.
- 13.6.2 The party referring the grievance to arbitration as provided above shall at the same time indicate the desire for a sole arbitrator or an arbitration board. The other party shall respond in writing within ten (10) days responding to the request for a sole arbitrator and providing the names of three (3) arbitrators for consideration of the other party. If mutual agreement cannot be reached, the following procedure shall apply:
 - 13.6.2.1 The party referring the grievance shall give notice to the other party, indicating the name and address of its appointee to the Arbitration Board.

- 13.6.2.2 Within seven (7) days after the receipt of such notice, the other party shall respond by indicating the name and address of its appointee to the Arbitration Board.
- 13.6.2.3 The two (2) appointees so selected shall, within ten (10) days after receipt of notice of the appointment of the second of them, appoint a third person who shall be the chairperson of the Arbitration Board.
- 13.6.2.4 If the recipient of the notice fails to name an appointee, or if the two (2) appointees fail to agree upon a chairperson within the time limit, the appointment may be made by the Minister of Labour upon request of either party.
- **13.6.3** The Arbitrator shall mean the Sole Arbitrator or the Arbitration Board, as the case may be. The Arbitrator shall be governed by the following provisions:
 - 13.6.3.1 The Arbitrator shall hear and determine the subject of the grievance and shall issue a decision which is final and binding upon the parties and upon any Employee or Employer affected by it.
 - 13.6.3.2 The Arbitrator shall determine procedure, but shall give full opportunity to all parties to present evidence and make representation.
 - 13.6.3.3 The Arbitrator shall not have the power to alter or amend any of the provisions of this Agreement.
 - The parties and the Arbitrator shall have access to the Employer's premises to view working conditions, machinery or operations which may be relevant to the resolution of a grievance.
 - The Arbitrator shall have the power to amend the grievance; modify penalties, including discharge and disciplinary penalties; and take whatever action or make whatever decision considered by the Arbitrator to be just and equitable in the circumstances.
 - **13.6.3.6** The Arbitrator shall have jurisdiction to determine whether a grievance is arbitrable.

- 13.6.3.7 In the case of an Arbitration Board, the decision of a majority is the decision of the Arbitration Board but, if there is no majority, the decision of the chairperson governs.
- **13.6.4** No matter shall be submitted to arbitration which has not been properly carried through all requisite steps of the grievance procedure.
- **13.6.5** Each of the parties hereto will bear the expense of the nominee appointed by it (if applicable) and the parties will share equally the fees and expenses, if any of the arbitrator.
- 13.7 An Employee whose presence is necessary at a hearing at any stage of the grievance process, including grievance and/or arbitration hearings, shall be released from duties in order to attend. The grievor(s) and the Union President or designate shall be paid for regular hours lost under this provision. The Union shall reimburse the Employer for the time of all other Employees whose presence is required by the Union.

13.8 Time Lines

- **13.8.1** Time lines may be extended if mutually agreed upon in writing at any stage of the grievance/arbitration proceeding.
- **13.8.2** "Days" in **ARTICLE 13 GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION** shall mean working days.

13.9 Grievance Mediation

13.9.1 Once the grievance procedure has been exhausted, and prior to referring the matter to arbitration or during arbitration, the parties, by mutual consent in writing, may elect to resolve the grievance by using grievance mediation. The parties shall agree on the individual to be the mediator and the time frame in which a resolution is to be reached. The timelines in the grievance procedure shall be frozen at the time the parties mutually agreed in writing to use the grievance mediation procedure. Upon written notification of either party to the other party indicating that the grievance is terminated, the timelines in the grievance/arbitration procedure shall continue from the point at which they were frozen. The parties will share equally the fees and expenses, if any, of the mediator.

ARTICLE 14 – DISTRIBUTION OF THE COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

14.1 The Employer agrees to provide all Bargaining Unit members with an electronic copy of the Collective Agreement. The Collective Agreement will be placed on the shared device or a common location that employees have access to. The Employee may create one copy for personal use.

<u>ARTICLE 15 – HUMAN RESOURCES FILE</u>

- 15.1 An Employee shall have access during normal business hours to their human resources file. The Employee may copy any material contained in these files. Request to view files must be arranged in advance.
- 15.2 Where an Employee authorizes in writing access to their personal file by another person acting on the Employee's behalf, the Employer shall provide such access, as well as copies of material contained therein, if also authorized and requested.
- **15.3** The Employer agrees to adhere to the provisions of the Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act.
- 15.4 The only recognized human resource file of an Employee shall be the one maintained by the Employer and shall be available and open to the Employee for inspection, in the presence of an Employer representative, at any reasonable time during the regular working hours of the department.
- **15.5** Notwithstanding paragraph **15.2**, the Employer will provide personal information about an Employee to an authorized Bargaining Unit representative in circumstances involving the administration, interpretation, or application of this Collective Agreement.
- **15.6** Employees shall receive copies of any materials placed in their human resources file pertaining to issues such as performance, conduct, competence or discipline.
- 15.7 With the exception of discipline related to conduct which puts at risk the safety and well-being of students, documents contained in an Employee's personnel file which are of a disciplinary or negative nature, including evaluation reports which the Employee considers damning, shall be removed from the file and returned to the Employee no later than two (2) years (730 days) after their date of issue as long as there is no reoccurrence within that two (2) years: and no continuing reference to the documents removed shall remain in the file. Documents related to discipline in cases of harassment or abuse (including sexual or physical misconduct of any kind) shall not be removed.
- 15.8 An Employee shall be entitled to correct inaccuracies or errors in documents contained in the Employee's human resource file by appending notices of corrections of inaccuracies to documents within the file, which, in the Employee's view, possess errors, or inaccuracies.
- **15.9** For the purpose of compliance with the provisions of Ontario Regulation 521-01 under the Education Act, the Employer agrees that if applicable, the procedures, guidelines and/or forms developed by OSSTF will be used as the model to

finalize its protocol for the requirements of complying with the provisions of the said Regulations.

ARTICLE 16 - HOURS OF WORK (See Attached Appendix)

- **16.1** The following flexible schedule will govern hours of work: The core hours of the workday shall be 7 a.m. to 5 p.m., Monday to Friday inclusive. The scheduling of these core hours will vary as follows:
 - **16.1.1** For March, April and May, Permanent Full-Time Employees shall work thirty-five **(35)** hours per week, worked in seven **(7)** continuous hours per day.
 - **16.1.2** For January, February, November and December, Permanent Full-Time Employees shall work thirty (**30**) hours per week, worked in seven and one half (**7.5**) continuous hours per day. During these months, Employees will work four (**4**) days per week.
 - **16.1.3** For July, August, September, Permanent Full-Time Employees shall work forty **(40)** hours per week, worked in eight (8) continuous hours per day.
 - **16.1.4** For June and October, Permanent Full-Time Employees shall work thirty-seven and one half **(37.5)** hours per week, worked in seven and one half **(7.5)** continuous hours per day.
 - **16.1.5** In consideration of operational needs and in consultation with the Executive Director or designate, scheduling of days off shall be determined on a seniority basis, with first right of refusal at the discretion of Senior Permanent Full-Time Employees.
 - **16.1.5.1** When the scheduled day off falls on a statutory holiday, the Employee will be permitted a day off in lieu on the next week day, provided that such date does not negatively impact the Employer's operations. In any event such request will not be unreasonably denied. Otherwise a mutually agreed-to date in the following week will be designated to replace the statutory holiday.
- 16.2 Any hours worked in excess of the maxima in Article 16.1 will be paid the hourly rate except those hours subject to Article 17.1.
- **16.3** The start and end time of the workday shall be determined by the Employer based upon its operational needs and in accordance with **16.1** and **16.4**.
- 16.4 Except in cases of emergency, the Employer can make changes to the Employee's scheduled start and end time, subject to forty-eight (48) hours' notice.

16.4.1 An Emergency shall include the following examples:

Inclement weather, road closures, missing students, bus and/or roads accidents/incidents, school lockdown, city alerts, police alerts, provincial alerts, pandemics, natural disasters, total absence of Bargaining Unit Employees.(no Bargaining Unit Employees present in the workplace for shift coverage.)

- **16.5** With the approval of the immediate Supervisor, an Employee may request flexible hours of work between the core hours of 7 a.m. and 5 p.m.
- **16.6** Each Employee shall receive each day an uninterrupted and continuous period of not less than thirty **(30)** minutes for lunch (unpaid), free from assigned duties or responsibilities.
 - **16.6.1** An Employee's lunch hour may be extended, with the approval of the immediate supervisor, provided that the Employee makes up the time within the same workday.
- **16.7** Each Employee shall be granted two **(2)** fifteen **(15)** minute breaks (paid) in each scheduled workday.
- 16.8 All paid absences and all calculations for EI and WSIB shall be based on a seven (7) hour workday and a thirty-five (35) hour workweek.
- 16.9 Term Employees shall work seven (7) continuous hours per day and thirty-five (35) hours per week.

ARTICLE 17 – OVERTIME

- 17.1 Overtime is defined as any work performed above eight (8) hours per day or forty (40) hours per week.
- **17.2** All overtime worked must have received prior approval from the Supervisor.
- **17.3** Overtime will be compensated as follows:
 - 17.3.1 1 ½ times the regular rate for all hours above forty (40) hours per week. At the request of the Employee, time off instead of money may be given by the Employer.
 - 17.3.2 1 ½ times the regular rate for all hours worked on a Saturday or Sunday. At the request of the Employee, time off instead of money may be given by the Employer.

- **17.3.3** 2 ½ times the regular rate for all hours worked on a statutory holiday. At the request of the Employee, time off instead of money may be given by the Employer.
- **17.3.4** The Employer shall not unreasonably deny requests for the time off in lieu of overtime pay.

17.4 Overtime for Part-Time Employees

17.4.1 The hours of work for Part-Time Employees shall be set in accordance with the requirements of the Employer with overtime applying for any work performed over the normal full-time hours outlined in <u>ARTICLE 16 – HOURS OF WORK and overtime being paid in accordance with ARTICLE 17 – OVERTIME.</u>

ARTICLE 18- PROBATIONARY PERIOD

18.1 All new Employees including Term Employees and excluding Casual Employees shall be considered to be on probation for a period of six **(6)** months from the date of the last hire.

ARTICLE 19 – QUALIFICATIONS

19.1 When the qualifications of a position are modified after consultation with the Bargaining Unit, the incumbent shall be deemed to be qualified.

ARTICLE 20 – TRANSFERS

- **20.1** A "transfer" shall mean the relocation of an Employee from one position to another within the Bargaining Unit.
- **20.2** An Employee can be transferred only for legitimate reasons.
- 20.3 If the Executive Director or designate decides to transfer an Employee for legitimate reasons, the Executive Director or designate shall meet with the Employee and the Bargaining Unit President to discuss the reasons for the decision. If, after considering the Employee's objections, the Executive Director or designate decides to proceed with the transfer, the Executive Director or designate must inform the Employee and the Bargaining Unit President in writing of this decision and of the reasons for doing so.

ARTICLE 21- SENIORITY

21.1 Definition: Seniority for Permanent Employees who have completed the probationary period shall mean the length of continuous service with the Employer, in the Bargaining Unit (subject to **21.2**), since the date of hire as a

Permanent or Term Employee. This shall be called the 'seniority date." Seniority shall operate on a Bargaining Unit-wide basis save and except the provisions of Article **23.4**.

- **21.2** Length of continuous employment shall include:
 - **21.2.1** Any period of continuous "permanent" employment with the Employer prior to the certification of the Bargaining Unit.
 - **21.2.2** Any period of continuous employment with the Employer without a break during which the Employee was classified as a Casual or Term Employee.
- 21.3 The Employer shall maintain a seniority list for Permanent Employees showing each Employee's name, seniority date, seniority ranking and occupational classification. The Employer shall post an up-to-date seniority list in all work locations by November 1st of each year. Employees will have thirty (30) workdays to notify the Employer of any changes after which time the seniority list will become the official list. Two copies will be forwarded to the Bargaining Unit.
- 21.4 Any questions as to the accuracy of the seniority list must be submitted by the Bargaining Unit on behalf of the Employee or the Employee to the Executive Director, in writing, within thirty (30) working days of the posting of the list. When an Employee submits a request for correction, copies will be forwarded to the Bargaining Unit.
- **21.5** If corrections to the accuracy of the seniority list are made, the Employer shall post an up-to-date seniority list in all work locations by March 15th of every year.
- 21.6 No authorized leave or approved absence (with or without pay), including a secondment, shall constitute a break in continuous service for the purposes of seniority and the Employee shall continue to accumulate seniority during the period of such leave or absence.
- **21.7 Seniority List**: In compiling the seniority list all ties shall be broken based on the following criteria in order:
 - **21.7.1** Total experience with the Employer;
 - **21.7.2** By lot in a manner to be determined by the Employer and the Bargaining Unit.

21.8 Service for Casual and Term Employees

21.8.1 Service for Casual and Term Employees shall mean the total hours of work with the Employer.

- **21.8.2** By November 1st of each year, the Casual and Term Employee Service List shall be updated and posted in all work locations. Employees will have thirty **(30)** workdays to notify the Employer of any changes after which time the service list will become the official list.
- **21.8.3** In compiling the service list all ties shall be broken by lot in a manner to be determined by the Employer and the Bargaining Unit.
- **21.8.4** For the purpose of filing vacancies, an updated list showing additional hours since the last official service list will be made available by the Employer to the Union.
- 21.8.5 Any Casual or Term Employee (upon completion of term employment) who has not worked any hours within a consecutive six (6) month period, will be removed from the service list and lose all rights and privileges accordingly.
- 21.8.6 In accordance with 1.13, any periods of continuous term employment immediately preceding employment placement (hiring) into a permanent position shall count towards the calculation of seniority and placement on the seniority list.

ARTICLE 22 – JOB POSTINGS

22.1 Postings

- **22.1.1** Each posting will indicate the position title, required qualifications, and hours of work, whether the job is permanent or temporary, commencement date and deadline date for applications. In addition, each posting for a term position will clearly indicate the start and end date of the position.
- **22.1.2** When a new job class is created, the Bargaining Unit President shall be informed by the Executive Director prior to the posting.

22.2 Term Positions

22.2.1 The Bargaining Unit President will be informed/notified when a vacant position is known to be three (3) months or more in duration.

All Term positions shall be advertised internally and externally simultaneously for at least five (5) workdays before the deadline for applications for the position. If more than one qualified Permanent Full-Time Employee applies for the vacancy, the position will be granted to the Permanent Full-Time Employee with the most seniority. Upon completion of the term employment, the Permanent Full-Time Employee shall return

- to the position he held immediately prior to being assigned to the term employment with all the rights and privileges enjoyed at that time.
- **22.2.2** After having complied with the procedure outline in **22.1.1** and **22.1.2**, the Employer will offer the position to the qualified Term or Casual Employee with the most seniority.
- 22.2.3 The Employer may recruit external applicants after having complied with 22.2.1 and 22.2.2

22.3 Permanent Services Positions

- **22.3.1** Where a vacancy for a Permanent position occurs in the Bargaining Unit, the position shall be advertised within the Bargaining Unit and the following will apply:
 - 22.3.1.1 Within ten (10) working days of the position becoming vacant, the Employer shall post the vacancy at every work location where Employees are employed.
 - If more than one qualified Permanent Full-Time Employee applies for the vacancy, the position will be granted to the Employee with the Employee with the most seniority as defined in Article 21.1. The Employee's seniority will be transferred to another department, if applicable.
 - 22.3.1.3 In addition to the provisions of Article 22.3.1.1, The Employer shall forward forthwith the job posting to all Employees on the recall list.
 - 22.3.1.4 Should there be no application from Permanent Full-Time qualified Employees. Employees on the recall list shall be offered the position in accordance with the provisions of Article 23.9.
 - 22.3.1.5 After having complied with the procedure outlined in Article 22.3.1, the Employer will offer the position to the qualified Term or Casual Employee with the most seniority.
 - 22.3.1.6 The Employer may recruit external applicants after having complied with 22.3.1 and 22.3.1.5
 - 22.3.1.7 The Employer may hire a Casual Employee until the posting procedure provided herein has been complied with and arrangements have been made to permit the employee selected to fill the vacancy to be assigned to the job.

22.4 Copy of Posting

22.4.1 A copy of each job posting shall be sent to the President of the Bargaining Unit.

22.5 Casual List

22.5.1 The Employer will maintain a casual list of qualified Employees. Employees on the casual list may be called upon to replace Employees absent from work for a period of less than three **(3)** months. Laid-off members who have recall rights are to be called and offered this work before others on the casual list.

<u>ARTICLE 23 – LAY OFF AND RECALL – PERMANENT EMPLOYEES</u>

- 23.1 An Employee affected by a reduction in the number of Employees or by a reduction of hours of work will be deemed to have been laid off and may exercise all the rights and privileges herein.
- **23.2** The Employer shall take the following steps, in order, before utilizing the layoff procedure:
 - **23.2.1** Invite retirements:
 - 23.2.2 Accepting voluntary resignations;
 - **23.2.3** Offering leaves of absence to interested Employees:
 - **23.2.4** Offering interested Employees the option of taking a voluntary reduction in working hours.
- 23.3 The Employer agrees that in the event of a layoff, Employees will be laid-off in reverse order of seniority in the bargaining unit, and shall continue to accumulate seniority for up to two (2)years while on layoff All laid-off Employees shall be entitled to twenty (20) workdays written notice of layoff.
- **23.4** An Employee laid-off within a department may elect to:
 - 23.4.1 Be placed on the recall list; or
 - 23.4.2 Solely within the same department, bump an Employee, who holds a position in his classification and remunerated at an hourly rate that is

- equivalent to the laid-off employee, with the least seniority provided the senior Employee has the job related qualifications to perform the job.
- **23.4.3** Solely within the same department, if 23.4.2 is not possible, bump an Employee, who holds a position in another classification and remunerate at an hourly rate that is equivalent to the laid-off Employee, with the least seniority provided the senior Employee has the job related qualifications to perform the job.
- **23.4.4** Solely within the same department, if 23.4.3 is not possible, bump an Employee, who holds a position in the same or a lower classification and remunerated at a lower hourly rate than the laid-off Employee, with the least seniority provided the senior Employee has the job related qualifications to perform the job.
- 23.5 An Employee displaced by an Employee with more seniority shall be deemed to have been laid-off and retains all rights outlined in 23.4 above.
- 23.6 Any Employee who is laid-off and who cannot displace an Employee with less seniority shall have their name placed on the recall list.
- 23.7 Employees who bump to a position with less pay will be placed at the salary rate, which represents the next highest amount above the Employee's present rate of pay. Employees who bump to a position with less pay and whose salary is higher than the maximum hourly rate of the new grid shall have their pay level reduced to the maximum hourly rate of the new grid.
- 23.8 Employees who have changed positions under <u>ARTICLE 23 LAY OFF AND RECALL PERMANENT EMPLOYEES</u> shall have the rights to reinstatement in their former position, if such becomes available, within two (2) years from the date of accepting the new position.

23.9 Recall Rights

- **23.9.1** The Employer shall maintain a recall list showing each permanent Employee's name, seniority date, seniority ranking and occupational classification for all positions or term positions, which become vacant.
- 23.9.2 Any Employee whose employment has been terminated in accordance with the provisions of seniority and lay-off procedures of this Agreement and does not elect to receive a severance allowance in accordance with the *Employment Standards Act* shall be eligible for recall for a period of two (2) years from the effective date of termination and shall maintain relative position on the seniority list for that period of time. At the end of the two (2) year period, a severance allowance will be paid out in

- accordance with the *Employment Standards Act* and the Employee's rights will be terminated
- 23.9.3 The Employer agrees that Employees will be entitled to recall in order of greatest seniority within the Bargaining Unit, provided the individuals have the qualification s to fill the positions for which they have applied for in accordance with ARTICLE 22 JOB POSTINGS.
- **23.9.4** No new Employee will be hired until all persons on lay-off have been given an opportunity for recall.
- 23.9.5 An Employee who accepts a position in accordance with ARTICLE 23 LAY OFF AND RECALL PERMANENT EMPLOYEES shall be reinstated as though there had been no interruption in seniority with full rights and benefits unless specifically modified by this Agreement.
- **23.9.6** All Employees eligible for recall shall file with the Employer and the Bargaining Unit their most recent address and telephone number and maintain this information current at all times.

ARTICLE 24 – JOB CLASSIFICATION AND RE-CLASSIFICATION

24.1 Pay Equity Gender Neutral Comparison System

24.1.1 The Employee that the OSSTF Pay Equity Gender Neutral Comparison System with "le Conseil scolaire du district du Grand Nord de l'Ontario" and "le Conseil scolaire catholique du Nouvel-Ontario" shall be used for the purposes of the Pay Equity Act and in the classification of new positions created by the Board and to re-classify positions where skills, effort, responsibilities or working conditions have changed.

24.2 Classification of New Position

- **24.2.1** When the Employer creates a new position, the Employer shall:
 - **24.2.1.1** Provide the Bargaining Unit with the new job description
 - **24.2.1.2** Establish the salary category
 - **24.2.1.3** Advise the Bargaining Unit of the assigned category
 - **24.2.1.4** One year after the Employer creates a new position the parties may initiate a review.

24.3 Job Evaluation Committee

24.3.1 The Job Evaluation Committee will consist of two (2) representatives of the Bargaining Unit, appointed by the Bargaining Unit Executive, and two (2) representative of the Employer. The committee will review the job description, collect the job data through the use of the OSSTF Pay Equity Job Evaluation System Questionnaire, interview the incumbent (s) and the immediate Supervisor, if necessary and determine if a change in category is required. The Job Evaluation Committee shall complete its work within two (2) months of a referral being made to them.

24.4 Re-Classification Request

- **24.4.1** When an existing position has been altered significantly as agreed by the Employee's Supervisor, the Employee shall have the right to request in writing a review of the position that shall be submitted to the President of the Bargaining Unit with a copy to the Executive Director.
- **24.4.2** The Employer shall review the job description with the President of the Bargaining Unit, interview the incumbent(s) presently holding the position and the incumbent's immediate Supervisor, if necessary and to determine if a change in category is required. The Employer and the President of the Bargaining Unit shall complete its work within two **(2)** months of the request.
- **24.4.3** Within ten **(10)** working days, the Employer shall inform, in writing, with a copy to the Bargaining Unit President, the Member(s) who hold(s) the position giving the decision.

24.5 Salary Adjustments

- **24.5.1** When a job evaluation results in a lower salary grid being assigned, the incumbent's salary shall be red-circled.
- **24.5.2** The new rate shall become retroactive to the time the new position was first filled by the Employee or the date of the written request for review.
- **24.6** All decisions will be final and binding on all parties and shall not become the subject of a grievance.

ARTICLE 25 - SALARY ADMINISTRATION AND PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS

25.1 Each Permanent Employee will advance from their present level to the next level set out in the salary schedule, twelve (12) months after the Employee was last advanced on their anniversary date, until the Employee reaches the maximum. Except where prohibited by law, if an Employee is absent without pay in excess of thirty (30) calendar days during a twelve (12) month period, his anniversary

date will be extended by the length of such absence in excess of thirty (30) calendar days. The anniversary date is the first day the Employee resumes employment.

25.2 Relieving Rate

- **25.2.1** An Employee who relieves in a higher position at the request of the Employer for a period of ten **(10)** days or more will be placed at the salary rate, which represents the next highest amount above the employee's present rate of pay.
- **25.2.2** The next highest amount will not be less than four percent **(4%)** above the Employee's present rate of pay.

25.3 Promotion Rate

- 25.3.1 An Employee who is promoted to a job in a higher category within the Bargaining Unit will be placed on the level of the salary schedule of the higher rated category so that the Employee will receive no less an increase in salary than the equivalent of one step in the previous category (provided that it does not exceed the salary range of the category to which the Employee has been promoted). Where the Employee was at a maximum of the Employee's previous category, the Employee will be placed on the level of the salary schedule of the higher rated category so that the Employee will receive no less an increase in salary than four percent (4%). Where the Employee has previous permanent experience with the Employer in the same position to which the Employee has been promoted within six (6) years of the promotion, such experience will be recognized for placement on the salary scale. A new anniversary date will be determined based on the start date in the new position.
 - **25.3.1.1** For the purpose of paragraph **25.3 Promotion Rate**, promotion shall be defined as a move from one category to another category with a higher salary grid and shall not include a change in status from part-time to full-time permanent or vice-versa.
 - 25.3.1.2 The Employee who moves to a job in a lower rated category will be placed at a level on the grid, if any, which most closely recognizes the Employee's, experience level on the other grid.
- **25.3.2** Where an Employee is promoted from a Term or Casual position to a permanent position for which he already has previous experience with the Employer, the experience will be considered in determining placement on the grid up to Step 3.

25.4 Method of Payment

All Employees covered by this Agreement will receive their pay by direct deposit in the bank account of their choice. All Employees will be paid bi-weekly on the second Thursday of the pay period. Casual Employees may be paid by "time sheets" and the Employer may withhold up to two (2) weeks of back-pay.

ARTICLE 26 – SALARY GRIDS

26.1 Permanent and Term Employees

26.1.1 Hourly rates effective January 1, 2016 (1 %)

CLASSIFICATION	STEPS AND HOURLY RATES					
	1	2	3	4	5	
	\$25.72	\$27.61	\$29.75	\$31.40	\$32.44	
Route Planner Data Planner						
Safety Officer	\$30.26	\$32.03	\$33.77	\$35.56	\$37.35	
Systems Administrator	\$30.26	\$32.03	\$33.77	\$35.56	\$37.35	
Transportation Clerk – Casual	\$16.72					

26.1.2 Hourly rates effective January 1, 2017 (0.5 %)

CLASSIFICATION	STEPS AND HOURLY RATES				
	1	2	3	4	5
Doute Dienner	\$25.85	\$27.75	\$29.90	\$31.56	\$32.60
Route Planner Data Planner					
0-1-1-0#:	\$30.41	\$32.19	\$33.94	\$35.74	\$37.54
Safety Officer					
Systems Administrator	\$30.41	\$32.19	\$33.94	\$35.74	\$37.54

	\$16.80		
Transportation Clerk – Casual			

26.2 Casual Employees

26.2.1 New Casual Employees hire for unskilled duties shall be paid at 65% of step 1 of the Route Planner classification.

<u>ARTICLE 27 – BENEFITS PLANS</u>

- 27.1 The Employer agrees to offer Permanent Employees the option of group insurance coverage. However, it is understood that in doing so, the Employer has not agreed to act as insurer or to guarantee availability of insurance coverage in any form. Group insurance plans are provided through insurance carriers and are always subject to the provisions of the policy.
 - **27.1.1** The Employer shall endeavour to ensure that all communication and documentation from the insurance carrier is available to the Employees in both official languages of the Province of Ontario.

27.2 Eligibility Criteria

- **27.2.1** The Employee is enrolled and covered under the insurance plans specified in this article upon commencement of employment.
- **27.2.2** Staff enrolment and continuous membership in specific plans outlined herein (basic life insurance, basic accidental death/injury insurance, spousal and dependent life insurance, long-term disability insurance) is compulsory.
- **27.2.3** The Employee may choose not to enrol in plans outlined in **27.6** and **27.7** upon presenting proof of membership in a spouse's insurance plan.
- **27.2.4** Employees on leave who purchase benefits from the Employer may prepay insurance premiums through monthly preauthorized bank deductions or by post-dated cheque.
- 27.2.5 Retired Employees may continue existing benefit plan coverage at their own expense, if applicable. It is understood that, for the purpose of plan administration, experience and premiums, the Employer may place retirees in a separate group altogether or in an Employee group which includes retirees.
- **27.2.6** The Union will be provided with a copy of the insurance policy thirty **(30)** days after the Employer has received the final document.

27.3 Basic Group Life Insurance Plan

The Employer covers **100%** of the premium cost for basic Group Life Insurance as stipulated in Appendix A.

27.4 Basic Accidental Death and Dismemberment Insurance Plan

The Employer covers **100%** of the premium cost for basic Accidental Death or Dismemberment Insurance as outlined in Appendix A.

27.5 Spousal and Dependant Life Insurance Plan

The Employer covers **100%** of the premium cost for Spousal Life Insurance and **66 2/3%** of the premium cost of Dependent Life Insurance as stipulated in Appendix A.

27.6 Supplementary Health Insurance Plan

The Employer covers **100**% of the premium cost for Supplementary Health Insurance as outlined in Appendix A.

27.7 Dental Insurance Plan

The Employer covers **100%** of the premium cost for Dental Insurance as specified in Appendix A.

27.8 Optional Accidental Death and Dismemberment Insurance Plan

The Employee can enrol in an optional Accidental Death and Dismemberment Insurance Plan as outlined in Appendix A by prepaying the full premium cost through authorized source deductions.

27.9 Long-Term Disability Insurance Plan

- **27.9.1** Enrolment in the Long-Term Disability Insurance Plan is mandatory.
- **27.9.2** Employees cover the premium cost for Long-term Disability Insurance through source deductions. An Employee who has LTD coverage must apply for benefits within the waiting period as defined by the policy.
- **27.9.3** Employees receiving long-term disability benefits are eligible for benefits at their own expense.

- **27.9.4** Any Employee eligible for long-term disability benefits may not continue to receive his salary from the Employer from his sick days bank over and above the waiting period of the Insurer.
- 27.9.5 Accumulated vacation entitlement will be paid to Employees receiving long term disability benefits only after twenty-four (24) months of disability at which time the definition of disability, according to the insurer, changes and the insurer confirms that the Employee will still receive long term disability benefits.

ARTICLE 28 - PENSIONS - ONTARIO MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM (OMERS)

- **28.1** The Employer will enter into an Agreement under the OMERS plan for Employees covered under the terms of this Agreement. The above will be administered subject to the rules and regulations established by OMERS and the Pension Act.
 - **28.1.1** Enrolment in OMERS is compulsory for all Employees in accordance with OMERS rules, regulations and requirements.
 - **28.1.2** The Employer will match the employees' contributions to OMERS.

ARTICLE 29 – AUTHORIZED LEAVES

29.1 Statutory Holidays

29.1.1 The following days shall be recognized as statutory holidays for Permanent Employees and paid at the regular rate of pay:

New Year's Day
Good Friday
Easter Monday
Victoria Day
Civic Holiday
Labour Day
Thanksgiving Day
Christmas Day
Canada Day
Boxing Day

Family Day

Term and Casual Employees will be paid according to the rules and regulations in the *Employment Standards Act, 2000*.

29.1.2 In addition to the statutory holidays referred to in **29.1.1**, Permanent Employees are entitled to an annual floating statutory holiday, which shall be granted on a date mutually agreed to by the Supervisor and the Employee. This day shall be used prior to December 31st of each school year. The granting of this date shall not be unreasonably denied.

29.1.3 When a statutory holiday falls on a Saturday or a Sunday, the Employer, after consulting the Bargaining Unit, shall designate a working day in lieu thereof.

29.2 Vacation

29.2.1 Administration and Allocation of Vacation Entitlement

- **29.2.1.1** Vacation entitlement is based on years of service.
- **29.2.1.2** Vacation entitlement is credited to Employee's account on September 1st of each year.
- 29.2.1.3 By November 1st of every year, the Employer provides each Employee with a report on the accumulated vacation entitlement to his credit as of September 1st.
- **29.2.1.4** Vacation entitlement for part-time Employees is prorated to the Employee's hours of work.
- 29.2.1.5 Employees who have not utilised all of their vacation entitlement in a given year may elect to transfer up to five (5) days of unused vacation to the following year's vacation entitlement. More than five (5) days may be transferred with the approval of the Executive Director.

29.2.2 Vacation Entitlement for Permanent and Term Employees

Vacation entitlement is based on the following grid:

Years of service as of August 31	Annual vacation entitlement for a permanent Employee	Monthly vacation entitlement for a permanent Employee	% of the hourly rate as vacation pay for a term Employee
Less than one (1) year	-	1.33 days	6.4%
One (1) year	16 days	1.33 days	6.4%
Five (5) years	17 days	1.42.days	6.8%
Six (6) years	18 days	1.5 days	7.2%
Seven (7) years	19 days	1.58 days	7.6%
Eight (8) years	20 days	1.67 days	8.0%
Nine (9) years	21 days	1.75 days	8.4%
Ten (10) years	22 days	1.83 days	8.8%
Eleven (11) years	23 days	1.92 days	9.2%
Twelve (12) years	24 days	2 days	9.6%
Thirteen (13) years	25 days	2.08 days	10.0%

Fourteen (14) years	26 days	2.17 days	10.4%
Fifteen (15) years	27 days	2.25 days	10.8%
Sixteen (16) years	28 days	2.33 days	11.2%
Seventeen (17) years	29 days	2.42 days	11.6%
Eighteen (18) years	30 days	2.5 days	12.0%
Twenty -one (21)	31 days	2.58 days	12.4%
years			
Twenty-three (23)	32 days	2.66 days	12.8%
years			
Twenty-five (25) years	33 days	2.75 days	13.2%

- **29.2.3** No deduction shall be made from the Employee vacation entitlement when a statutory holiday falls during the Employee's scheduled vacation period.
- **29.2.4** Upon termination, a Permanent Employee shall be reimbursed for any unused vacation entitlement.
- **29.2.5** When a Permanent Employee shall be reimbursed for any unused vacation entitlement.
- 29.2.6 When a Permanent Employee submits a medical certificate confirming that the Employee's scheduled vacation was interrupted due to serious illness or an admission to a hospital, the period stated in the medical certificate shall be considered sick leave and the Employee's vacation days shall be credited accordingly.
- **29.2.6** Employees shall normally utilize their vacation entitlement during the months of December and July. The preparation of the vacation schedule must take into account the needs of the Employer and seniority of each member. Employees will be notified no later than November 1st of said dates.

29.3 Vacation – Term Employees

Vacation Pay for each Term Employee shall be paid in accordance with the chart above. Term Employees shall retain the option of adjusting their work hours (flexing) to accumulate time that will be available when requested as lieu time at the discretion of the Employee, provided that it does not adversely impact the operations of the Employer. Such flexing shall be pre-approved by the Executive Director or designate, who shall not unreasonably deny the request. Upon completion of the term, any remaining funds shall be paid in full on the Employee's final cheque.

29.4 Vacation – Casual Employees

Vacation Pay for each Employee shall be calculated at 4% of gross pay and paid

on each pay cheque.

29.5 Sick Leave

29.5.1 Administration and Allocation of Sick Leave Entitlement

- 29.5.1.1 The Employer shall maintain a sick leave plan where the compilation of sick leave days are registered, both current entitlement and deductions for each Employee.
- 29.5.1.2 The Employer is responsible for the administration of the sick leave plan; to make the decision required for its effective operations and, as required for its effective operations and, as required, to adopt procedures related to the administration of the plan.
- 29.5.1.3 By November 1st of every year, the Employer shall provide every Employee a statement of accumulated sick leave days in his account.

29.5.2 Sick Leave Entitlement

- 29.5.2.1 Each permanent full time Employee shall be entitled to two (2) days of sick leave per month for the current year. This entitlement is prorated for part-time Employees, for Employees whose employment is effective after the beginning of a school year and for Employees whose employment changes from permanent full-time to part-time during a year.
- 29.5.2.2 Unused sick leave days shall be accumulated to a maximum of two hundred (200) days.
- 29.5.2.3 Employees who accumulate the maximum two hundred (200) days shall thereafter receive by the end of November of every year the sum of thirty dollars (\$30) for every unused sick leave day above two hundred (200). This amount is subject to the rules and regulation of Services Canada.

29.5.3 Sick Leave Utilisation

29.5.3.1 Employees absent due to illness shall receive his salary as long as the Employee has accumulated sick leave days in his account.

29.5.3.2 For each absence from work due to illness, deductions in increments of thirty **(30)** minutes, as the case may be, shall be deducted from the Employee's account.

29.5.4 Absences Due to Sick Leave

29.5.4.1 Absences approved by the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board (WSIB)

The Workplace Safety and Insurance Act provides Employees with an insurance against the loss of salary due to an accident while carrying out an Employee's duties. According to the cumulative sick leave plan provided by this Collective Agreement, the Employer must increase all WSIB payments to ensure that the Employee receives full salary. If the Employee runs out of sick leave days, he shall be entitled only to WSIB payments.

- 29.5.4.2 A medical certificate shall be provided for absences of three (3) consecutive workdays due to illness. At the Employer's request, a medical certificate may be provided for absences of less than three (3) consecutive workdays due to illness.
- 29.5.4.3 In exceptional circumstances, the Employer may request that an Employee reports to a qualified medical practitioner of the Employer's choice. In this event, the Employer shall be responsible for costs related to the medical examination.
- 29.5.4.4 Employees on sick leave for twenty (20) consecutive workdays or more must inform the Employer of his intention to return to work and submit a medical certificate confirming that the Employee is ready to return.

29.6 Bereavement Leave

- **29.6.1** The Employer shall grant leave without loss of pay in accordance with the following:
 - 29.6.1.1 Up to five (5) consecutive workdays, or at the discretion of the Employee, either three (3) consecutive days, followed by two (2) further consecutive days at a later time, (or viceversa) in the event of a death of any one of the following family members: father, stepfather, mother, stepmother, spouse, brother, sister, son, daughter, step-daughter and step-son, father-in-law, mother-in-law, common-law spouse and guardian. These days may be broken into two (2)

consecutive days and three (3) consecutive days or five (5) consecutive days.

- Up to three (3) consecutive workdays or at the discretion of the Employee, either two (2) consecutive days, followed by one (1) further consecutive day at a later time, (or viceversa), in the event of a death for any one of the following family members: grandfather, grandmother, grandchildren, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, step-brother, step-sister, fiancé, son-in-law and daughter-in-law. These days may be broken into one (1) day and two (2) consecutive days or three (3) consecutive days.
- One (1) workday to attend the funeral of anyone of the following: uncle, aunt, niece, nephew, grandfather of spouse, grandmother of spouse, a person to who the Employee acted as a parent, a person acted as a parent and a person who resides with the Employee.
- **29.6.2** Upon request, an Employee who has to travel more than 500 kilometres for bereavement leave shall be entitled to two **(2)** supplementary days of leave without pay.
- **29.6.3** Upon request, an Employee who has to travel more than 1000 kilometres for bereavement leave shall be entitled to four **(4)** supplementary days of leave without pay.
- **29.6.4** Upon request for reason of particular circumstances, the employer may grant an extension to a bereavement leave. Such extension shall be without pay.

29.7 Quarantine

29.7.1 An Employee, after being exposed to a communicable disease, who is quarantined by order of a medical officer of health, is deemed to be on paid leave.

29.8 Jury or Witness Duty

29.8.1 When an eligible Employee is required to be absent because of jury duty, or is subpoenaed as a witness for a tribunal in a case that the Employee is not party to nor the accused, the absence shall be with pay nor deductions from sick leave.

- 29.8.1.1 The Employee shall provide the Employer a certificate, signed by a representative of the tribunal, requiring the Employee's attendance.
- 29.8.1.2 The Employee who is required to be absent because of jury duty, or is subpoenaed as a witness in accordance with 29.7.1 deposits with the Consortium the full amount of compensation received excluding mileage, travelling and meal allowances.
- 29.8.1.3 When an Employee is required to be absent from work to attend a tribunal or a case due to the Employee's employment obligations, the leave will be with pay.
- 29.8.1.4 Upon presenting the appropriate proof, an Employee shall be granted leave without pay to attend a tribunal or a case that the Employee is party to if the tribunal or case is not related.

29.9 Maternity and Parental Leave (Include Sub Plan)

29.9.1Preamble

Maternity and parental Leave is subject to the provisions of the Employment Standards Act and the Employment Insurance Act.

29.9.2 Maternity Leave

- 29.9.2.1 An Employee who has worked for at least (13) weeks has a right to a maternity leave without pay of seventeen (17) consecutive weeks.
- An Employee shall give the Employer written notice of at least two (2) weeks before the maternity leave is to begin. The notice must indicate the date the leave is to commence and the anticipated date of return to work. The notice is to be accompanied by a medical certificate attesting to the pregnancy and confirming the due date.
- 29.9.2.3 An Employee may begin the leave on an earlier day than was set out in the notice if the Employee gives the Employer a written notice at least two (2) weeks before that earlier day. The leave may begin on a later day if the Employee gives the Employer a written

notice at least two (2) weeks before the day set out in the original notice.

- 29.9.2.3.1 The two (2) weeks period may be less if the Employee provides a medical certificate confirming that the Employee must leave work earlier than expected.
- 29.9.2.3.2 In unforeseen circumstances, the Employee may be exempted from the formality of providing notice if the Employee submits to the Employer a medical certificate confirming that she had to leave employment without delay.
- 29.9.2.4 The Employee may end her maternity leave earlier than anticipated by giving her Employer written notice of at least four (4) weeks before the day she wishes to end her leave.
- 29.9.2.5 If birth occurs after the expected due date, the member may prolong the maternity leave for a period equal to the delay by giving her Employer written notice at least four (4) weeks before the initial anticipated date of return.
- 29.9.2.6 During the maternity leave, the Employer shall pay its share of benefits premiums to which the Employee subscribed immediately prior to the leave, unless the Employee chose not to participate and she so informs the Employer in writing.
- **29.9.2.7** During the maternity leave, the Employee:
 - **29.9.2.7.1** Accumulates seniority;
 - **29.9.2.7.2** Maintains her right to apply for posted vacancies:
 - **29.9.2.7.3** Accumulates sick leave credits;
 - 29.9.2.7.4 Subject to the rights and privileges accorded by the *Employment Standards Act*, cannot utilize her sick leave credits.
 - **29.9.2.7.5** Accumulates vacation credits.

29.9.2.8 Supplementary Employment Benefit Plan (SEBP)

- 29.9.2.8.1 For the two (2) weeks waiting period for employment insurance, an Employee on maternity leave is entitled to payments equivalent to ninety-five percent (95%) of her salary.
- 29.9.2.8.2 In order to receive the SEBP, the Employee must provide the Employer with a payment stub received from (The Employment Commission of Canada) or other documentation indicating that the Employee has applied for employment insurance and has completed her two-week waiting period.
- 29.9.2.8.3 The Employee returns to the pre-leave position upon the Employee's return. If the position does not exist, the pertinent provision of the current collective agreement shall apply.

29.10 Parental /Family Leave

- 29.10.1 An Employee who has worked for at least thirteen (13) weeks and who is the parent of a child has a right to a parental or adoption leave without pay of thirty five (35) consecutive weeks following the birth of the child, and in the case of an adoption, the coming of the child into the Employee's custody, care and control for the first time.
- **29.10.2** An Employee shall give the Employer written notice of at least two **(2)** weeks before the leave is to begin. The Notice must indicate the date the leave is to commence and the anticipated date of return to work.
- 29.10.3 An Employee may begin the leave on an earlier day than was set out in the notice if the Employee gives the Employer a written notice at least two (2) weeks before that earlier day. The leave may begin on a later day if the Employee gives the Employer a written notice at least two (2) weeks before the day set out in the original notice.
- **29.10.4** The Employee may end the leave earlier than anticipated by giving the Employer written notice of at least four **(4)** weeks before her or his return.

29.10.5 Commencement of leave

29.10.5.1 The leave of an Employee who has taken a maternity leave must begin immediately after the end of the maternity leave, unless the child has not yet come under the Employee's custody, care and control for the first time.

- 29.10.5.2 The leave of thirty five (35) weeks or thirty seven (37) weeks cannot begin later than fifty two (52) weeks after the birth of the child or after the child comes under the Employee's custody, care and control for the first time.
- **29.10.6** During the leave, the Employer shall pay its share of benefit premiums for the benefits the Employee subscribed to immediately prior to the leave, unless the Employee chooses not to participate and the Employee so informs the Employer in writing.
- 29.10.7 During the leave, the Employee:
 - **29.10.7.1** Accumulates seniority;
 - **29.10.7.2** Maintains her right to apply for posted vacancies;
 - **29.10.7.3** Accumulates sick leave credits;
 - **29.10.7.4** Subject to the rights and privileges accorded by the *Employment Standards Act*, cannot use her sick leave credits.
 - **29.10.7.5** Accumulates vacation leave credits.
- **29.10.8** The Employee returns to his position upon the Employee's return from leave. If the position does not exist, the pertinent provision of the current Collective Agreement shall apply.

29.10.9 Extended Parental Leave/Adoption Leave

- 29.10.9.1 The Employer shall grant to an Employee an extended parental or adoption leave without pay of up to eighteen (18) consecutive months. The extended parental or adoption leave must begin immediately after the end of the Parental/Family Leave outlined in 29.10.
- 29.10.9.2 An Employee shall give the Employer written notice of at least four (4) weeks before the leave is to begin. The notice must indicate the date the leave is to commence and the anticipated date of return to work.
- 29.10.9.3 The Employee may end the leave earlier than anticipated by giving the Employer written notice of at least four (4) weeks before the Employee's return.

29.10.9.4 During the leave, the Employee may elect to continue benefit coverage that the Employee subscribed to immediately prior to the leave, if the Employee pays the full benefit premium for the period of leave. Benefit premiums shall be reimbursed on a monthly basis or in accordance with other arrangements as agreed to by the Employee and the Employer.

29.10.9.5 During the leave, the Employee:

- **29.10.9.5.1** Accumulates seniority;
- **29.10.9.5.2** Does not accumulate credits for years of service with the Employer;
- **29.10.9.5.3** Maintains the right to apply for posted vacancies;
- **29.10.9.5.4** Does not accumulate sick leave credits;
- **29.10.9.5.5** Subject to the rights and privileges accorded by the *Employment Standards Act*, cannot utilise sick leave credits;
- **29.10.9.5.6** Does not accumulate vacation credits.
- 29.10.9.6 The Employee returns to the position upon the Employee's return from leave. If the position does not exist, the pertinent provision of the current collective agreement shall apply.

29.10.9.7 Temporary Assignment

An Employee may request to be temporarily assigned to other duties:

- **29.10.9.7.1** If she is pregnant and her conditions of work is a source of risks of communicable diseases or dangers to her health or the to the health of the unborn child:
- **29.10.9.7.2** If her working conditions are a source of danger to the health of the child being breastfed.
- 29.10.9.7.3 If she regularly works with a cathode ray screen

29.11 Paternity Leave

29.11.1 The Employer shall grant to the spouse two (2) days of leave with pay for the birth or adoption of a child.

29.12 Personal Leave

- 29.12.1 Subject to a prior request to the Executive Director or his designate, the Employer shall grant, per year, to each Employee, up to five (5) days with pay or ten(10) half days with pay and with deduction from sick leave for the following reasons:
 - 29.12.1.1 Up to three (3) days for personal reasons. These days cannot be taken the day preceding or the day following Christmas Break, March Break or a statutory holiday;
 - **29.12.1.2** For academic or professional testing which takes place during hours of work;
 - **29.12.1.3** University graduation of the Employee or of an Employee's child or spouse;
 - **29.12.1.4** For an emergency situation which prevents the Employee from going to work or to exercise her or his responsibilities;
 - **29.12.1.5** For illness of a member of the immediate family (spouse, son, daughter, father or mother) to arrange for alternate care.

29.13 Inclement Weather

29.13.1 Leave granted for inclement weather shall be in accordance with the Employer's Policy 006 Absences in case of Inclement Weather.

29.14 Leave of Absence Without Pay

- 29.14.1 Subject to a written request submitted prior to the commencement of the leave, the Employer may grant a leave of absence without pay of up to two (2) years. The Employer shall inform the Employee in writing of its decision. A leave of absence without pay shall not be unreasonably denied.
- 29.14.2 An Employee on a leave of absence without pay for two (2) years may request a renewal of the leave but the Employer retains the right to accept or refuse such a request.

- 29.14.3 Requests for a leave of absence without pay must be submitted at least three (3) months prior to the commencement of the leave. However, under certain circumstanses, the Employer may grant a leave of absence without pay without regards to the three (3) months advance notice.
- 29.14.4 During a leave of absence without pay and subject to the provisions of the insurance policy, an Employee, may continue all of their benefits coverage if the Employee pays the full benefit premium for the period of leave. Benefit premiums shall be reimbursed on a monthly basis or in accordance with other arrangements as agreed to by the Employee and the Employer.
- **29.14.5** During the leave of absence without pay, the Employee:
 - **29.14.5.1** Does not accumulate sick leave days;
 - **29.14.5.2** Cannot utilise sick leave days;
 - **29.14.5.3** Does not accumulate vacation days;
 - **29.14.5.4** Does not accumulate credits for years of service with the Employer.
- 29.14.6 If the approved leave of absence without pay is for three (3) months or more, the position is posted in accordance with the provisions of the current Collective Agreement.
- 29.14.7 The Employee returns to the pre-leave position upon the Employee's return. If the position does not exists, the pertinent provision of the current Collective Agreement shall apply.

29.15 Leave for Union Related Duties

29.15.1 Bargaining Unit President

- 29.15.1.1 The Bargaining Unit President shall be granted a full-time leave or, at the discretion of the Employer, a part-time leave for one year. The Employer may refuse to extend the leave for the President if the leave negatively affects the Employer's operations. Such a leave will not be unreasonably refused.
- 29.15.1.2 The total cost of salary, benefits and statutory plans of the Employee on leave shall be reimbursed to the Employer by the Bargaining Unit.

- 29.15.1.3 During the leave, the Employee retains all the rights and privileges of the current Collective Agreement. The Employee receives their salary and benefits coverage, including such leave days. The Employee continues to accumulate seniority and service for the purpose of the Collective Agreement. With respect to experience, the Employee continues to accumulate experience prorated to the percentage of the Employee's assignment at the time of the leave.
- 29.15.1.4 Subject to the provisions of the current Collective Agreement, the Employee's position is protected for a period of two (2) years.

29.15.2 Miscellaneous Leave Days for Union Business

- **29.15.2.1** The Employer shall grant leave for a total of thirty-five **(35)** workdays per year. Employees shall not take union leave at the same time during the peak period of operation.
- 29.15.2.2 The Union shall reimburse the Employer for the cost of casual Employee's salary for the first thirty (30) days and, afterwards, shall reimburse the salary of the permanent Employee.
- **29.15.2.3** During the leave, the Employee retains all the rights and privileges of the current Collective Agreement.

29.15.3 Other Union Leave

- 29.15.3.1 The Employer shall grant a leave without pay for a secondment of one (1) year to an Employee appointed to a position with the Union (other than the Bargaining Unit). Such shall be renewable upon approval of the Executive Director, which will not be unreasonably denied.
- 29.15.3.2 Subject to the provisions of the current Collective Agreement, the Employee's position is protected for a period of one (1) year.
- **29.15.3.4** Subject to **Article 23** Layoff, at the end of the above noted leave of absence, the member shall return to

the same position held by the member immediately prior to the commencement of the leave, it is still exists, or to a comparable position, if it does not.

29.15.3.5 The Union shall reimburse the Employer for the full costs of salary and benefits of the member granted a Union Leave under 29.15.2.3.

29.16 Negotiating Team

- **29.16.1** The team will include up to two **(2)** Employees, assigned to negotiate the Collective Agreement.
- 29.16.2 Union representative will have the right to attend meetings, without loss of pay, which could take place during working hours. If applicable, the Union will pay for the cost associated of replacing the Employee who attends the meeting during the hours of work.

29.17 Positions Outside the Bargaining Unit

- 29.17.1 In order to temporarily accept a position outside the Bargaining Unit, the Employer may grant, upon written request from an Employee, a secondment for a period of up to two (2) years.
- 29.17.2 An Employee on secondment shall retain benefit coverage at his discretion. The Employee or the third party, as the case may be shall assume the cost of the premiums.
- 29.17.3 An Employee returning from a secondment shall have the right to return to the same position. If the position does not exist, the Employee shall be assigned to a position in accordance with the Collective Agreement.

29.18 Family Medical Leave

29.18.1 An Employee shall be granted leave to care for immediate family members as provided in the *Employment Standards Act*.

ARTICLE 30 – PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

- **30.1** Performance evaluation shall be done at least once during the probationary period and afterwards, every two **(2)** years.
- **30.2** Notwithstanding **30.1**, a performance evaluation shall be done when an Employee requests one or within the first year of an Employee accepting a new position.

- **30.3** There shall be only one personnel record for each Employee at the Employer's office. No reports relating to the implementation of an evaluation procedure may be used against an Employee unless such report is part of this record.
- **30.4** All evaluation reports shall be made in writing and signed by the evaluator, with a copy to the Employee.
- 30.5 The evaluation shall be conducted with a minimum of forty-eight (48) hours' notice to the Employee involved. Consideration shall be given to a variety of employment situations if so requested by the Employee. Only data collected by the evaluator during the implementation of the evaluation procedure shall be considered for inclusion in the evaluation report.
- **30.6** The evaluation report shall be made available to the Employee at the earliest possible opportunity, but no later than ten **(10)** work days from the date of the visit.
- **30.7** The Employee shall be given an opportunity to initial or sign the report and add comments if the Employee desires. This opportunity shall occur before anyone other than the Employee and the evaluator see the evaluation report. Initials or signatures indicate only that the Employee has read the report.
- 30.8 An evaluation report, which alleges that the Employee's performance is unsatisfactory, shall outline the reasons and specific recommendations for improvements necessary to achieve satisfactory performance. A subsequent follow-up evaluation shall be made only on these specific recommendations after allowing the Employee a reasonable time for improvement.
- **30.9** A performance evaluation shall be in accordance with the Employer's Administrative Policy 007.

<u>ARTICLE 31 – CONFERENCES OR PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT</u>

- 31.1 When an Employee is required to be absent for professional purposes approved by the Employer, the necessary time will be provided without loss of pay. Professional purposes may include conferences, educational courses or professional development that is job related. Such leave must have the prior approval of the Executive Director.
- **31.2** Where the Employee is granted permission to participate in a conference, educational course or professional development activities, the Employer may pay the following expenses in accordance with Employer's Policy 009:
 - **31.2.1** The tuition for the course/workshop;
 - **31.2.2** Travel expenses:

- **31.2.3** Meals, including meals required while travelling to and from the courses;
- **31.2.4** Lodging
- **31.2.5** Costs for learning materials.

ARTICLE 32 – TRAVEL ALLOWANCES

- 32.1 All Employees travelling on authorized Employer business shall be reimbursed the rate per kilometre according to the **Employer's Policy 004**.
- **32.2** Other employment related expenses shall be reimbursed according to the Employer's Policies and Procedures

ARTICLE 33 – EMPLOYMENT INSURANCE REBATE

33.1 The Employer shall remit to the Bargaining Unit its Employees' share of any employment insurance premium reduction.

ARTICLE 34 – LIABILITY INSURANCE

34.1 The Employer agrees to carry liability insurance applicable to its Employees. Any changes to the current level of coverage, as outlined in the Certificate of Insurance in Appendix B will be discussed with the Union prior to the change.

ARTICLE 35 – APPENDICES

35.1 All appendices and letters (including but not limited to Letters of Understanding, etc.) attached to the Agreement are deemed to be an integral part of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 36 – SIGNATURES

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Sudbury Student Services Consortium has hereunto affixed its corporate seal, attested by its proper officers in that behalf: The Sudbury Student Services Consortium

Alain Gélinas
Chair, Board of Directors

Kathleen Stokes
Chief Negotiator

Renée Boucher
Executive Director

The Ontario Secondary School Teachers' Federation, representing the Sudbury Student Services Consortium Bargaining Unit of Rainbow District 3 has executed this Agreement attested by the signatures of the authorized representatives:

Lucie Bisson Chief Negotiator Sudbury Student Services Bargaining Unit of Rainbow District 3

Shelley Page Executive Assistant OSSTF Provincial

Signed this day of 2016, at Sudbury, Ontario.

INDEX

<u> 1</u>	<u>Page</u>
Absences due to sick leave Absences approved by the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board (WSIB). Administration and allocation of sick leave entitlement Administration and allocation of vacation entitlement. Adoption Leave Appendices Arbitration Authorized Leaves	38 37 36 44 51 16
Bargaining Unit	47 3-34 3-34 3-34 39
Casual Employee	29 1-45 12 50 3-14 13
D	
Day Definition Dental Insurance Plan Dependent Life Insurance Discrimination Distribution of the Collective Agreement Drug Testing - Letter of Understanding	.7-8 34 34 14

Duty to Accommodate	16
E	
Effective period Eligibility Criteria E-mail System Employee Relations Committee Employee Employer Employment Insurance Rebate Extended Parental Leave	
F	
Family LeaveFee Deduction	
G	
General (Grievance and arbitration) General Purpose Grievance Grievance Mediation	8-9 7, 16-19
Н	
Harassment Health, Safety and Security Holidays, Statutory Hourly rates effective January 1 st , 2016 Hours of Work Human Resources File	
I	
Inclement Weather	16
J	
Job Classification and Re-Classification Job Evaluation Committee	29-30

Joint Health and Safety Committee	40
L	
Lay off and Recall – Permanent Employees Leave Days for Union Business Leave for Bargaining Unit President Leave for Union Related Duties Leave of absence without pay Liability Insurance Local Union Dues Long-term Disability Insurance	48 47-48 46-47 51
Long-term Disability Insurance Plan	
M	
Management Rights Member Method of Payment	7
N	
Negotiating Team	
o	
Optional Accidental Death and Dismemberment Insurance Plan OSSTF Other Union Leave Overtime for Part-Time Employees Overtime	7 48 23
P	
Parental Leave	7 45 29 30
Pensions – Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System (OMERS) Performance Evaluation Permanent and Term Employees	49-50

Permanent Full-Time Employee	8
Permanent Services Positions	26
Personal Leave	
Positions outside the Bargaining Unit	49
Preamble (Maternity and Parental Leave)	
Predecessor Boards	
Maternity and Parental Leave (include sub plan)	41-42
Maternity Leave	41
Probationary Period	23
Professional Development	50
Promotion Rate	
Provincial Union Dues	10-11
Q	
Qualifications	23
Quarantine	
R	
Rebate, Employment Insurance	
Recall – Permanent Employees	
Recall Rights	
Re-classification Request	
Re-classification	
Recognition and Scope	
Nellevilly Nate	3 I
S	
Salary Adjustments	30
Salary Administration	
Salary Grids	32
Scope	9
Seniority	
Seniority for Casual and Term Employees	24-25
Seniority List	24
Sick Leave	
Sick Leave Entitlement	36
Sick Leave Utilisation	38
Signatures	
Spousal and Dependent Life Insurance Plan	
Statutory Holidays	
Step 1, Grievance	
Step 2, Grievance	
Summer Students	14

Supplementary Employment Benefit Plan (SEBP)	2
Supplementary Health Insurance Plan3	4
Т	
•	
Technological Changes	
Term Employee	
Term Positions	
Transfers	
Travel Allowances	
Travel Allowances	. 30
U	
Union Dues	-11
Union Membership and Fee Deduction10	
Union Related Duties, Leave for47	
Union Representatives	
Union Rights	
Union	8
V.	
V	
Vacation	-37
Vacation – Casual Employees	
Vacation Entitlement	
Vacation Entitlement for Permanent and Term Employees	
Volunteers	
W	
	4.0
Witness Duty	
Workspace1	Ί